ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Saluda County

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
MAY 05 2016
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GERALD RUDELL WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE # 2013-002304

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury on the lesser-included offense of first-degree assault and battery?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in charging the jury on the doctrine of transferred intent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 2013, a Saluda County grand jury indicted appellant Gerald Rudell Williams for three counts of attempted murder. R. 762 – R. 767. On October 14, 2013, appellant was tried before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. R. 1. Ervin J. Maye represented the State. R. 1. Bennett E. Casto and Robert M. Madsen represented appellant. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 722, l. 23 – 723, l. 17. Judge Baxley sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of twenty years' imprisonment. R. 738, ll. 4 – 11. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury on the lesser-included offense of first-degree assault and battery.

Relevant Facts

Al Jerome Young (“Young”) was a drug dealer. R. 270, ll. 18 – 22. He had a prior conviction for giving a false name to law enforcement. R. 270, l. 23 – 271, l. 1. Young testified that in April 2012, he met a man named Oriental James Charley (“Charley”) concerning a drug deal. R. 272, ll. 18 – 24. Charley gave him \$26,000.00 in cash. R. 272, l. 25 – 273, l. 1. Young never intended to deliver drugs and agreed with the solicitor that his intention was “to rip [Young] off.” R. 273, ll. 2 – 13.

Young testified that on the night of April 13, 2012, he was at home when he heard the dog barking. R. 275, ll. 3 – 9. Also in Young’s house were Ycedra Williams (“Ycedra”) and Joseph Wrighton (“Joseph”). R. 275, ll. 3 – 22. According to Young, Ycedra “saw two guys running in the yard and that’s when she yelled out.” R. 275, ll. 3 – 9. Young grabbed his money and .40 caliber pistol and told Ycedra to turn off all the lights. R. 275, ll. 10 – 14. Ycedra called the police. R. 275, ll. 15 – 18. As Joseph walked to the door, “shots rang out.” R. 275, l. 19 – 276, l. 5. Young returned fire. R. 276, ll. 1 – 5. When the police arrived, Young told Joseph and Ycedra to tell them he was not there because he had a probation warrant. R. 276, l. 19 – 277, l. 15. Both Ycedra and Joseph admitted pleading guilty to giving false information to police for lying about Young not been being present. R. 237, ll. 3 – 7. R. 258, ll. 1 – 19.

Young claimed he never went outside during the exchange of gunfire, but had fired his weapon in his backyard on a previous occasion. R. 274, ll. 1 – 11. R. 276, ll. 16 – 18. Multiple .40 caliber shell casings were found in the yard. R. 511, l. 9 – 512, l. 5. R. 369, ll. 14 – 21. Three different firearms were collected from the scene. R. 373, l. 17 – 374, l. 8. No one was injured and none of the people in the house identified appellant as one of the shooters.

Ycedra testified that a few days before the gunfight, she saw Charley come to Young's trailer looking for him in a van. R. 221, l. 5 – 222, l. 17. Ycedra saw five people in the van. R. 221, ll. 19 – 24. Appellant was Ycedra's second cousin and she did not identify appellant as being with Charley in the van. R. 217, l. 22 – 218, l. 3. R. 240, ll. 18 – 20.

The night of the gunfight, the police were looking for Charley and his green van. R. 151, l. 18 – 153, l. 9. When the 911 call came, police officer Jerry Grenier ("Grenier") was on patrol and answered the call. R. 296, l. 1 – 297, l. 17. On the way to the call, he noticed a minivan parked on the side of the road. R. 297, l. 18 – 299, l. 13. Officer Grenier and his partner checked the van and called Officer Brett Long ("Long") to ask him to watch the vehicle for them so they could respond to the scene of the shooting. R. 297, l. 18 – 299, l. 13.

Officer Long claimed he found a green colored minivan by the side of the road. R. 323, ll. 5 – 11. He pulled behind the van. R. 324, l. 5 – 326, l. 10. He turned on his bright headlights and his blue lights. R. 324, ll. 14 – 16. He claimed a person who "undoubtedly was laying in the ditch beside the van" stood up and faced him. R. 324, ll. 14 – 18. Officer Long got out of his car and ordered the person to stop and show him

their hands. R. 324, ll. 14 – 21. Officer Long claimed the person then got into the passenger side of the van and it slowly drove away. R. 324, l. 14 – 325, l. 17.

Officer Long got in his car to follow the vehicle and notify the other officers. R. 325, ll. 1 – 17. He claimed a camera in his vehicle was not working. R. 325, ll. 1 – 6. Officer Grenier pulled his vehicle in front of the van to box it in. R. 325, ll. 18 – 23. The van stopped. R. 325, ll. 18 – 25. The police claimed they found appellant driving the car and Charley on the passenger side. R. 326, l. 23 – 327, l. 8.

Charley testified for the defense. R. 576, ll. 1 – 10. On direct-examination, Charley testified that he told appellant he would pay him to drive Charley and a man named Rico that night. R. 584, l. 5 – 585, l. 11. Charley told appellant he was “going to see some girls.” R. 585, ll. 23 – 25. Charley never told appellant anything about a shooting, or guns, or his dispute with Young. R. 586, ll. 1 – 13.

While appellant waited in the van, Charley and Rico went to Young’s trailer. R. 590, l. 3 – 591, l. 7. Charley heard Young shout. R. 591, ll. 14 – 19. Young opened the door of the trailer and fired two shots in the air. R. 592, ll. 2 – 6. Charley then fired one shot in the air and his gun jammed. R. 592, ll. 9 – 21. Charley ran. R. 592, ll. 24 – 25. Rico shot at the trailer. R. 592, l. 17 – 18. When Charley got into the van, he said the police pulled up “within five seconds.” R. 593, ll. 16 – 23. Appellant was still in the van when Charley returned. R. 593, ll. 16 – 18.

On cross-examination, the solicitor immediately confronted Charley with the fact that he had already pled guilty but had not yet been sentenced. R. 601, l. 21 – 604, l. 14. Charley responded that he believed he was going to receive a sentence of eight years. R.

604, ll. 4 – 6. The solicitor accused Charley of “double-crossing the State.” R. 604, ll. 15 – 19.

Only after the solicitor’s accusations of a double-cross and mentioning his plea deal did Charley recant his direct-examination testimony and implicate appellant in the shooting. R. 605, ll. 13 – 631, l. 24. Under intense questioning from the solicitor, Charley claimed appellant was with him at the scene of the shooting and that there was no “Rico.” R. 605, l. 13 – 611, l. 25.

However, Charley was adamant that Ycedra and her brother were not in the house at the time of the shooting. R. 615, ll. 8 – 23. Charley testified that he knew they were not there because the van that Ycedra drove was not in the yard. R. 615, ll. 8 – 23. Charley testified he had no “beef” with Ycedra and no “beef” with Joseph. R. 615, l. 24 – 616, l. 5. When asked why he would have “shot the whole house up not caring about whether they lived or died,” Charley responded, “I can’t say I was not caring about whether they lived or died. He shot, so I shot in the air, that’s how it happened.” R. 616, ll. 6 – 11. Charley claimed appellant shot, but did not know the direction that appellant fired. R. 618, ll. 9 – 13. When shown a picture of the trailer, Charley explained that the bullet holes could have come from inside the trailer. R. 627, ll. 4 – 21.

Discussion

After the trial court charged the jury, appellant placed his earlier objections at a bench conference on the record. R. 713, l. 14 – 716, l. 15. Appellant requested the lesser included offense of first-degree assault and battery. R. 716, ll. 5 – 15. Appellant argued “there’s been no testimony of any injuries with any of the people inside this home.” R.

716, ll. 5 – 15. Appellant pointed out that no physical evidence matching the guns was found. R. 716, ll. 5 – 15.

In response, the State argued that appellant was entitled only to a charge on attempted murder because the “two theories that were posited were either that he was totally not present and unaware of this and had absolutely no involvement, criminal involvement at all or he was completely involved in it.” R. 716, ll. 18 – 25. The trial judge denied the request for the lesser included offense because “[a]ll the evidence in this case” showed that appellant “shot up a mobile home with the intent to kill an individual who was within the home. . . .” R. 717, ll. 15 – 23. The court added, “The evidence is devoid of any lesser included offense indicia.” R. 718, ll. 5 – 6.

The trial judge erred because no one in the trailer was injured. A person can be guilty of first-degree assault and battery if the person unlawfully “offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act . . . is accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600(C)(1)(b)(i). From the plain language of the statute, first-degree assault and battery does not require an injury. Id. It is enough that the defendant “offer” or “attempt to injure.” Id. Furthermore, one can be guilty even if the means used are likely to produce death. Id.

The law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). Reversible error is committed if the trial court fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). Moreover, when determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser included offense, the court views the

facts in the light most favorable to the defendant. See Knoten, 347 S.C. at 302, 555 S.E.2d at 394 (requiring the trial court to view facts in the light most favorable to a defendant when determining whether to charge involuntary manslaughter).

Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to appellant, the jury could have found that appellant lacked malice, but used means likely to produce death. No one in the trailer was injured. Charley testified that he was not sure of the direction appellant fired. Charley also testified that Young fired first. R. 592, ll. 2 – 6. The trial judge mistakenly accepted the solicitor’s argument that there was “no middle ground.” R. 717, ll. 2 – 3. Under the “any evidence” standard, the jury could have concluded that appellant did not possess malice, especially considering that no one was injured and Young fired first. This Court should reverse appellant’s convictions and grant him a new trial.

2.

The trial court erred in charging the jury on the doctrine of transferred intent.

Because attempted murder requires specific intent, the trial court erred in charging transferred intent. State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015) *cert. granted* Mar. 28, 2016. Appellant objected to the trial court’s charge on transferred intent. R. 713, l. 18 – 714, l. 7. The State requested the charge. R. 714, ll. 8 – 21.

Appellant argued:

We object to the transfer[red] intent charge. Generally speaking, transferred intent is, is—I understand it is shooting at a specific person and missing and hitting another. I don’t believe that the facts of this case support that charge. You know, here I think it’s stated that the theory of malice just because there is a shooting. And we would respectfully object to the transfer[red] intent charge, Your Honor.

R. 713, l. 23 – 714, l. 7. The trial court granted the State’s request to charge transferred intent over appellant’s objection, noting that appellant was accused of shooting into a house with people “he did not know were there.” R. 714, ll. 8 – 21. The trial judge explained that “the Court was concerned that the jury may believe, after charging that intent is necessary, that the defendant had no intent to harm those individuals.” R. 714, ll. 8 – 21.

In King, this Court held that the attempted murder statute requires the State to prove the defendant acted with the specific intent to kill. King at 407-11, 772 S.E.2d at 191-93. The Court relied on the language used by the Legislature when it enacted the attempted murder statute. Id. The Court also relied on State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 397, 532 S.E.2d 283, 285 (2000) in which the Supreme Court refused to recognize a separate offense of attempted murder and stated that attempted murder would require specific intent. Id.

Because attempted murder requires the State to prove specific intent, the trial court erred in charging that any intent appellant had to kill Young could be transferred to other people. This error is magnified in the factual situation presented here because, as recognized by the trial court, the evidence did not show that appellant was aware that anyone was inside of the trailer. Charley testified that no “beef” existed with respect to the other two occupants of the trailer. The transferred intent charge allowed the jury to find appellant guilty of attempted murder as to Ycedra and Joseph without requiring the State to prove that (1) appellant knew they were in the trailer; and (2) appellant intended to kill them as well as Young.