**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County  
The Honorable James R. Barber, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No.2017-000610

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT  
OF JAMES GIBSON,

Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

MAY 16 2018

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Orangeburg County

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court properly denied Appellant's request to qualify a witness as an expert and allow her to testify regarding Appellant's pedophilia diagnosis because the witness' experience in education, including courses in psychology, and counseling did not qualify her to evaluate and render a clinical opinion regarding a particular person's diagnosis and mental status for purposes of the SVPA.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The State concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In April 1995, Appellant James Gibson pled guilty in Orangeburg County to one count of Lewd Act upon a Minor under the age of Sixteen, and one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree, and received consecutive sentences totaling forty years. Prior to Appellant's release from incarceration, Respondent State of South Carolina commenced an action pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA), S.C. Code §§44-48-10 through -170 (2015), seeking his civil commitment for long term control, care and treatment in a secure facility. The matter was called for a jury trial on February 23, 2017, before the Honorable James R. Barber, Circuit Court Judge.

Marie Gehle, Psy.D., was qualified as an expert in forensic psychologist, and testified she was appointed by the court to evaluate Appellant and determine if he met the criteria for commitment under the SVPA. As part of the evaluation process, she reviewed extensive documentation regarding Appellant's personal and criminal history, as well as his behavior while incarcerated, which are the type of documents relied on by experts in her field. She also had Appellant complete a psychological test, completed an actuarial risk assessment tool, and conducted an extensive interview with him. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 29-38; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 29-38).

Dr. Gehle testified a person's past sexual conduct relates to his risk to reoffend if it reveals pattern of behavior, which tend to remain stable over time. Appellant's sex offense history showed charges and convictions for sexual offenses between 1982 and 1995, which occurred over multiple states (Kansas, North Carolina and South Carolina). The convictions included lewd and lascivious behavior toward minors, taking indecent liberties with a child, and criminal sexual conduct with a minor. In addition, Appellant had a sexual misconduct

disciplinary while incarcerated in the S.C. Department of Corrections, which resulted from an alleged rape of another inmate. (TT, pp. 38-59; R., pp. 38-59).

Based on all the information she received, Appellant's score on the psychological test and the results of the actuarial based risk assessment tool, Dr. Gehle concluded to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty Appellant has the mental abnormalities of pedophilia and exhibitionism. She also concluded beyond a reasonable degree of psychological certainty Appellant's his mental abnormalities cause him serious difficulty controlling his behavior, and make him likely to commit future acts of sexual violence if not confined for long term control, care and treatment. (TT, pp. 59-68; R., pp. 59-68).

After the State rested its case, Appellant sought to call Charlotte Taylor, Ed.D, as an expert in psychology and counseling, stating she taught college level courses in psychotherapy, psycho-diagnostics and psycho-pharmacology. The State objected, noting the State had no notice she would be called as an expert witness, and arguing she had not conducted an evaluation of Appellant under the SVPA, and she was licensed as a professional counselor and professional counselor supervisor, not a psychologist. The State conceded Dr. Taylor could be qualified as an expert in professional counseling and professional counseling supervision. (TT, pp. 91-93; R., pp. 91-93).

Dr. Taylor then testified *in camera* regarding her education and experience. She had an undergraduate degree in counseling with a major in psychology and a minor in counseling, a master's degree in counseling and a graduate degree in counseling with a minor in psychology. She stated she taught counseling and psychology courses at Clemson University and other state colleges. She further testified she had experience working with crime victims, and had testified

as an expert on behalf of victims. On cross-examination, Dr. Taylor conceded she was not licensed in South Carolina as a clinical psychologist. (TT, pp. 93-98; R., pp. 93-98).

The court ruled Dr. Taylor could not be qualified as an expert in psychology. In support of the ruling, the court noted she was not licensed or trained as a psychologist, she was not a practicing psychologist, she was a counselor in education, which included taking and teaching some psychology related courses, but she was not a professional psychologist. (TT, p. 98; T., p. 98).

Appellant then proffered the testimony Dr. Taylor would give as an expert in psychology. Specifically, she testified Appellant was not a pedophile based on her research, as well as her interaction with Appellant “in instruction and in therapy.” She also testified Appellant’s offenses against children did not indicate pedophilia because “his initial offenses were exploratory,” “he was development delayed at the age of eighteen,” and he “was attempting to determine whether he was homosexual, heterosexual or bisexual.” At the close of her proffered testimony, the court again ruled she could not be qualified as a psychologist because she was not licensed as a psychologist, she was not a practicing psychologist, and she was not a psychologist “at all.” (TT, pp. 98-104; R., pp. 98-104).

Dr. Taylor then testified before the jury, and was qualified as an expert in counseling. She stated she worked with Appellant while he was incarcerated, including teaching him in a life skills class, and facilitating his participation in group and individual therapy. She testified extensively about Appellant’s childhood, which included significant abuse due to physical disabilities, and prevented him from learning about healthy relationships. She also testified in depth about the work she did with Appellant in counseling, and stated she worked with him on

his “sexual identity issues.” Further, she testified about Appellant’s relapse prevention plans after his release. (TT, pp. 112-133; R., pp. 112-133).

Dr. Gehle testified on rebuttal that Dr. Taylor’s testimony did not change her previously stated opinions. Specifically, she stated the pedophilia diagnosis was based on Appellant’s documented sexually inappropriate behavior toward children, and whether he was trying to work out sexual abuse or sexual identity issues was irrelevant to the diagnosis. She further testified Appellant was three times more likely than the average sex offender to commit another sexual offense. (TT, pp. 157-158; R., pp. 157-158).

The jury found Appellant is a sexual predator beyond a reasonable doubt, and the court committed him to the S.C. Department of Mental Health for long term control, care and treatment. (TT, p. 190, Order of Commitment filed February 23, 2017; R., pp. 195).

## ARGUMENT

**The circuit court properly denied Appellant's request to qualify a witness as an expert in psychology and allow her to render an opinion regarding Appellant's pedophilia diagnosis because the witness' experience in education, including courses in psychology, and counseling did not qualify her to evaluate and render a clinical opinion regarding a particular person's diagnosis and mental status for purposes of the SVPA.**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred by refusing to qualify Dr. Taylor as an expert in psychology based "solely" on the fact she was not licensed as a psychologist in South Carolina. To the contrary, the circuit court's ruling was not based "solely" on Dr. Taylor's lack of a psychology license, and when reviewed in its entirety, the record amply supports the court's ruling. Further, even if the circuit court erred, Appellant was not prejudiced and any error was harmless.

### **A. Standard of Review**

The qualification of expert witnesses and the admissibility of their testimony is largely within the discretion of the trial court, and the appellate court will not disturb the trial court's ruling absent a clear abuse of discretion. Creed v. City of Columbia, 310 S.C. 342, 426 S.E.2d 785 (1993); Walker v. The Bluffs Apartments, 324 S.C. 350, 353, 477 S.E.2d 472, 473 (Ct. App. 1996). An abuse of discretion occurs when there is an error of law or a factual conclusion which is without evidentiary support. Lee v. Suess, 318 S.C. 283, 457 S.E.2d 344 (1995).

### **B. Appellant's Witness**

To be competent to testify as an expert, a witness must have acquired by reason of study, experience, or both, such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony. Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp., 326 S.C. 248, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997); O'Tuel v. Villani, 318 S.C. 24, 455 S.E.2d 698, 701 (Ct. App. 1995). In executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must

make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony: 1) whether the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury; 2) whether the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter; and 3) whether the substance of the testimony is reliable. Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

While non-compliance with licensing requirements or statutory law in a specialized area should not automatically preclude qualifying a witness as an expert, or serve as the sole basis for refusing to qualify the witness, the trial court can consider it as a factor when judging the witness' qualifications. Teseniar v. Professional Plastering & Stucco, Inc., 407 S.C. 83, 754 S.E.2d 267, 271 (Ct. App. 2014). The trial court's inquiry into a witness' expert qualifications should be broad in scope. *Id.*

In this case, all of Dr. Taylor's degrees were in counseling, with some focus on psychology. Her post-graduate field of practice was counseling, not psychology, and she had **no** experience evaluating or treating sex offenders. While Dr. Taylor had taught college level psychology related courses, those would of necessity be theoretical in nature, and she had no clinical or practical experience as a psychologist, especially in connection with sex offenders. Finally, Dr. Taylor's entire interaction with Appellant was as a counselor, not a psychologist.

In determining Dr. Taylor's qualifications, the circuit court listened to her testimony regarding her education and experience, as well as her contact with Appellant. While the court did consider the fact Dr. Taylor was not licensed as a psychologist, the court also determined she was not a practicing psychologist, or even "a psychologist at all." (TT, p. 104; R., p. 104). Thus, the court broadly considered the evidence regarding Dr. Taylor's qualifications, and properly

refused to qualify her as an expert in psychology based on multiple factors, not “solely” on her lack of licensure to practice psychology in South Carolina.

### **C. Harmless Error**

A judgment will not be reversed for insubstantial errors that do not affect the result. Bluffton Towne Ctr., LLC v. Gilleland-Prince, 412 S.C. 554, 772 S.E.2d 882, 892 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing Jensen v. Conrad, 292 S.C. 169, 355 S.E.2d 291, 293 [Ct. App. 1987]). The circumstances of a particular case dictate whether an error is harmless, and the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. State v. Williams, No. 2013-002304, 2018 WL 1074369, at \*4 (S.C. Ct. App. Feb. 28, 2018). Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *Id.*; see also State v. Young, 420 S.C. 608, 803 S.E.2d 888, 897 (Ct. App. 2017) (same); Burke v. Republic Parking Sys., Inc., 421 S.C. 553, 558, 808 S.E.2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 2017) (prejudice in this context means there is a reasonable probability the jury's verdict was influenced by the purported error).

Even if the circuit court erred in refusing to qualify Dr. Taylor as an expert in psychology, the error was harmless in light of the testimony Dr. Taylor was allowed to give regarding her work with Appellant. First, she was qualified as an expert in counseling, and testified at great length regarding Appellant’s abusive childhood, which resulted in an attachment disorder. She also testified in depth about Appellant’s progress in counseling, which she said was “fantastic.” Then she testified Appellant had sexual identity issues that caused his behavioral problems in the past, but he resolved those issues in counseling with her, and developed a relapse prevention plan which included continued counseling and working with an

organization that provided housing, mentoring and employment assistance. (TT, pp. 112-132; R., pp. 112-132).

In short, the **only** thing Dr. Taylor was not allowed to opine about was Appellant's pedophilia diagnosis, but she indirectly attacked the diagnosis by opining Appellant's past problems were due to his detachment disorder and sexual identity issues. Given her qualification as an expert in counseling, the scope and depth of her testimony and the opinions she was able to express, it simply is not reasonable to conclude the court's refusal to qualify Dr. Taylor as an expert in psychology affected the jury verdict. Therefore, Appellant was not prejudiced by the court's refusal to qualify her as an expert in psychology, and any error in the court's ruling was harmless.